# ELEKTRA BECKUM (B°

## metabo germany





$\bigcirc$	Betriebsanleitung	3
ENG	Operating Instructions	.15
F	Instructions d'utilisation	.27
	Manuale d'istruzioni	.39

#### D

#### KONFORMITÄTSERKLÄRUNG

Wir erklären in alleiniger Verantwortlichkeit, dass dieses Produkt mit den folgenden Normen übereinstimmt\* gemäß den Bestimmungen der Richtlinien\*\* EG-Baumusterprüfung \*\*\* durchgeführt von \*\*\*\*

DECLARATION DE CONFORMITE

Nous déclarons, sous notre seule responsabilité, que ce produit est en conformité avec les normes ou documents normatifs suivants\* en vertu des dispositions des directives \*\* Contrôle européen du modèle type \*\*\* effectué par \*\*\*\*

par \*\*\*\* IT

#### DICHIARAZIONE DI CONFORMITÀ

Noi dichiariamo sotto la nostra esclusiva responsabilità che il presente prodotto è conforme alle seguenti norme\* in conformità con le disposizioni delle normative \*\* Omologazione CE \*\*\* eseguita da \*\*\*\*

PT

#### DECLARAÇÃO DE CONFORMIDADE

Declaramos sob nossa responsabilidade que este produto está de acordo com as seguintes normas\* de acordo com as directrizes dos regulamentos \*\* controle de amostra de Construção da CE \*\*\* efectuado por \*\*\*\*

FI

#### VAATIMUKSENMUKAISUUSVAKUUTUS Vakuutamme, että tämä tuote vastaa seuraavia normeja\* on direktiivien

määräysten mukainen\*\* EY-tyyppitarkastustesti \*\*\* testin suorittaja: \*\*\*\*

#### DK

OVERENSSTEMMELSESATTEST

Hermed erklærer vi på eget ansvar, at dette produkt stemmer overens ed følgende standarder\* iht bestemmelserne i direktiverne\*\* EF-typekontrol \*\*\* gennemført af \*\*\*\*

#### GR

#### ΔΗΛΩΣΗ ΑΝΤΙΣΤΟΙΧΕΙΑΣ

Δηλώνουμε με ιδία ευθύνη ότι το προϊόν αυτό αντιστοιχεί στις ακόλουθες προδιαγραφές\* σύμφωνα με τις διατάξεις των οδηγιών\*\* Έλεγχος-ΕΟΚ δομικού πρωτοτύπου\*\*\* πραγματοποιούμενος από το\*\*\*\*

#### CZ

#### Souhlasné prohlášení

Tímto na vlastní zodpovědnost prohlašujeme, že tento výrobek splňuje níže uvedené normy\* normativní nařízení\*\* směrnice EU\*\*\* zprávu technické kontroly\*\*\*\*

#### BG

ДЕКЛАРАЦИЯ ЗА СЪОТВЕТСТВИЕ С ПЪЛНА ОТГОВОРНОСТ ДЕКЛАРИРАМЕ, ЧЕ ТОЗИ ПРОДУКТ СЪОТВЕТСТВА НА СЛЕДНИТЕ НОРМАТИВНИ ДОКУМЕНТИ\* СЪГЛАСНО ИЗИСКВАНИЯТА НА ДИРЕКТИВИТЕ\*\* ПРОТОТИПНИ ИЗПИТАНИЯ НА ЕС\*\* ПРОВЕДЕНИ ОТ\*\*\*\*

#### CZ

#### SOUHLASNÉ PROHLÁŠENÍ

Tímto na vlastní zodpovědnost prohlašujeme, že tento výrobek splňuje níže uvedené normy\* normativní nařízení\*\* směrnice EU\*\*\* zprávu technickékontroly\*\*\* GB

#### DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY

We herewith declare in our sole responsibility that this product complies with the following standards\*

in accordance with the regulations of the undermentioned Directives\*\* EC type examination \*\*\* conducted by \*\*\*\*

NL CONFORMITEITSVERKLARING

CONFORMITEITSVERKLARING

Wij verklaren als enige verantwoordelijke, dat dit product in overeenstemming is met de volgende normen\*conform de bepalingen van de richtlijnen\*\* EGtypeonderzoek \*\*\* uitgevoerd door \*\*\*\*

#### ES

DECLARACION DE CONFORMIDAD

Declaramos bajo nuestra exclusiva responsabilidad, que el presente producto cumple con las siguientes normas\* de acuerdo a lo dispuesto en las directrices\* Homologación de tipo CE \*\*\* llevada a cabo por \*\*\*\*

#### SE FÖRSÄKRAN OM ÖVERENSSTÄMMELSE

Vi försäkrar på eget ansvar att denna produkt överensstämmer med följande standarder" enligt bestämmelserna i direktiven\*\* EG-materialprovning \*\*\* genomfört av \*\*\*\*

#### NO

SAMSVARSERKLÆRING Vi erklærer under eget ansvar at dette produkt samsvarer med følgende normer henhold til bestemmelsene i direktiv\*\* EU-typegodkjennelse \*\*\* utstilt av \*\*\*\*

#### PL

OŚWIADCZENIE O ZGODNOŚCI Oświadczamy z pełną odpowiedzialnościa, że niniejszy produkt odpowiada wymogom następujących norm\* według ustaleń wytycznych \*\*Kontrola wzorców UE \*\*\* przeprowadzone przez \*\*\*\*

#### HU

#### MEGEGYEZŐSÉGI NYILATKOZAT

Kizárólagos felelősségünk tudatában ezennel igazoljuk, hogy ez a termék kielégíti az alábbi szabványokban lefektetett követelményeket\* megfelel az alábbi irányelvek előírásainak\*\* által végzett vizsgálat szerint megegyezik az alábbi építési mintapéldánnyal \*\*\*\* a \*\*\*\*

#### RO

#### DECLARATIE DE CONFORMITATE

Declaram pe proprie raspundere ca acest produs corespunde urmatoarelor norme' conform prevederilor liniilor directoare\*\* verificare UE pentru mostre\*\*\* efectuata de\*\*\*\*

#### SK

#### Konformné prehlásenie

Prehlasujeme s plnou zodpovednostou, ze tento výrobok je v zhode s nasledovnými normami\* podla ustanovení smerníc \*\* skúsobných protokolov\*\*\*vystavených skúsobnou\*\*\*\*

#### RO Românã

DECLARATIE DE CONFORMITATE

Declaram pe proprie raspundere ca acest produs corespunde urmatoarelor norme' conform prvederilor linilior directoare\*\* raport de verificare\*\*\* eliberat de\*\*\*\* nivel de zgomot masurat/garantat\*\*\*\*\*

#### DH 330

\* EN 61029-1; prEN 61029-2-3, DIN EN 61000-3-2, DIN EN 61000-3-3, DIN EN 55014-1, DIN EN 55014-2, DIN EN 62079 \*\* 98/37/EG, 89/336/EWG, 73/23/EWG, 93/68/EWG

\*\*\*M 6 04 07 13037 066

\*\*\*\* TÜV Product Service, Sylvesterallee 2, D - 22525 Hamburg

U

Ing. grad. Hans-Joachim Schaller Leitung Entwicklung und Konstruktion



Business Unit Elektra Beckum Daimlerstr. 1 D - 49716 Meppen

## 1. Parts Identification





Rear





- **1** Crank for height adjustment
- 2 Carrying handle
- 3 Outfeed table with storage compartment on underside for power supply cable and tools
- 4 Lock lever for height adjustment
- 5 Final thickness stop
- 6 Planing thickness indicator
- 7 Plug for carbon brushes
- 8 Depth of cut indicator
- 9 Infeed table
- 10 ON/OFF switch

- 11 Reset button to restart after an overload
- 12 Cutterblock cover
- **13** Mounting holes for dust extraction connector

19 -

18

#### Standard delivery parts and tools

- 14 Push stick
- 15 Dust extraction connector
- 16 Cutter knife setting gauge
- 17 Open jaw wrench (metric 8 mm and 10 mm)
- 18 Special tool for changing knives

- - **19** Two holding pins (dust extraction connector)
  - Operating instructions (not shown)
  - Spare parts list (not shown)

# Components inside the thicknessing machine

- 20 Infeed roller
- 21 Cutter knife
- 22 Cutterblock
- 23 Outfeed roller

## NG) ENGLISH

## Table of Contents

1.	Parts Identification15
2.	Please Read First!16
3.	Safety16
3.1	Specified conditions of use16
3.2	General safety instructions16
3.3	Symbols on the machine17
3.4	Safety devices18
4.	Special Product Features18
5.	Operating Controls18
6.	Initial Operation19
6.1	Machine installation19
6.2	Aligning the infeed
	and outfeed tables19
6.3	Dust collector19
6.4	Mains connection20
7.	Operation20
7.1	Planing work pieces20
8.	Care and Maintenance21
8.1	Machine cleaning
	and lubrication21
8.2	Changing the cutter knives22
8.3	Adjusting the final thickness stop 23
84	Checking and replacing
0.1	the carbon brushes
8.5	Storage24
8.6	Transportating24
9.	Trouble shooting24
10.	Available Accessories25/51
11.	Repairs25
12.	Technical specifications26

#### 2. **Please Read First!**

These instructions have been written to make it easier for you, the operator, to learn how to operate the machine and to do so safely. These instruction should be used as follows:

- Read these instructions before use. Pay special attention to and always follow all safety instructions.
- These operating instructions are intended for people with basic technical knowledge regarding the operation of a machine like the machine described herein. Inexperienced persons are strongly advised to seek competent advice and guidance from an experienced person before operating this machine.
- Keep all documents supplied with this machine for future reference. Retain proof of purchase in case of warranty claims.
- If you lend or sell this machine be sure to have these instructions go with it.

The manufacturer is not liable for any damage resulting from neglect of these operating instructions.

Information in these instructions is denoted as under:









Caution! Risk of material damage.

> Note: Additional information.

- At times numbers are used in illustrations (1, 2, 3, ...). These numbers - indicate component parts:

  - are consecutively numbered; correspond to the number(s) in
  - brackets (1), (2), (3) ... in the neighbouring text.
- Numbered steps must be carried out in sequence.
- Instructions which can be carried out in any order are indicated by a bullet (•).
- Lists are indicated by a dash (-).

## 3. Safety

#### 3.1 Specified conditions of use

Use this machine only for thickness planing of solid wood. Any other use is not as specified.

The permissible work piece dimensions must be observed (see "Technical Specifications").

Any other use is not as specified. Use not as specified, modification of the machine or use of parts not tested and approved by the manufacturer can cause unforeseen damage.

#### 3.2 General safety instructions

A thicknessing machine is a dangerous tool which can, due to operator carelessness, cause severe injury.

- When using this machine follow the following safety instructions, to exclude the risk of personal injury or material damage.
- Please also follow the special safety instructions in the respective chapters.
- Where applicable, follow the legal directives or regulations for the prevention of accidents pertaining to the use of thicknessing machines.

## C General hazards!

- Keep your work area tidy a messy work area invites accidents.
- Be alert. Know what you are doing. Set out to work with reason. Do not operate the machine when you are lacking concentration.
- Do not operate the machine while under the influence of alcohol, drugs or medication.
- Consider environmental conditions. Keep work area well lighted.
- Prevent adverse body positions. Ensure firm footing and keep your balance at all times.
- Use suitable work piece supports when cutting long stock.
- Do not operate the machine near inflammable liquids or gases.
- This thicknessing machine shall only be started and operated by persons familiar with thicknessing machines and the dangers associated with the operation of thicknessing machines. Persons under 18 years of age shall use this machine only in the course of their vocational training, under the supervision of an instructor.
- Keep bystanders, particularly children, out of the danger zone. Do not permit other persons to touch the machine or power cable while it is running.
- Do not overload the machine- use it only within the performance range it was designed for (see "Technical specifications").
- Never set the depth of cut to more than 1/8" (3 mm).
- Turn power off if the machine is not used.



- Do not expose the machine to rain. • Do not operate the machine in damp or wet environment.
- Prevent body contact with earthed objects such as radiators, pipes, cooking stoves, refrigerators when operating this machine.
- Do not use the power cable for any purpose it is not intended for.



• Ensure the machine is disconnected from power before servicing.

# Cutting hazard when touching the rotating cutterblock!

- Always keep your hands well clear of the cutterblock.
  - Use suitable feeding aids, if necessary.
  - Keep sufficient distance to driven components when operating the electric machine.
  - When in operation, do not reach into the dust collector or the cutterblock cover.
- To prevent accidental starting, always turn the machine OFF:
   – after a power failure,
  - after a power failure,
    before unplugging or plugging in.
- Do not operate the machine without all guards installed.
- Wait until the cutterblock has come to a complete stop, before removing jammed parts or small cutoffs, chips, etc. from the work area.

# Cutting hazard, even with the cutterblock at standstill!

- Wear gloves when changing the cutter knives.
- Store the cutter knives in a safe place and in such a manner that nobody can get hurt.

## Drawing-in/trapping hazard!

During thicknessing the work piece is automatically drawn into and transported through the thicknessing machine.

- Always make sure that no body parts or objects can be drawn into the machine together with the work piece. Do not wear neckties and also no gloves and no garments having wide sleeves. Contain long hair with a hairnet.
- Never attempt to plane any work pieces which contain
  - ropes,
  - strings,
  - cords,
  - cables or
  - wires, or to which any of the above are attached.

# Risk of injury by work piece kickback (work piece is caught by the rotating cutterblock and thrown back against the operator)!

- Always use sharp cutter knives. Blunt cutter knives may get caught in the surface of the work piece.
- Do not jam work pieces.
- Do not plane work pieces which are shorter than 356 mm.

- If in doubt, check work piece for inclusion of objects (e.g. nails or screws).
- Never thickness several work pieces at the same time. Risk of personal injury if individual pieces are uncontrolled caught by the cutterblock.
- Remove small cutoffs, scrap, etc. from the work area – when doing so, the cutterblock must be at standstill and the power cable unplugged.
- Ensure that when turning ON (e.g. after servicing) no tools or loose parts are left on or in the machine.

# A Hazard generated by insufficient personal protection gear!

- Wear hearing protection.
- Wear safety glasses.
- Wear dust mask.
- Wear suitable work clothes.
- When working outdoors wearing of non-slip shoes is recommended.

# Risk of injury by inhaled wood dust!

- Some types of wood dust (e.g. beech, oak, ash) may cause cancer when inhaled. Whenever possible, use a dust collector attached to the thicknessing machine. The dust collector has to comply with the specifications contained in "Technical Specifications".
- When working, minimize the amount of wood dust escaping from the machine into the environs:
  - remove wood dust deposits in the work area (do not blow away!);
  - fix any leakages on the dust collector;
  - ensure good ventilation.

#### Hazard generated by modification of the machine, or use of parts not tested and approved by the manufacturer!

- Assemble machine in strict accordance with these instructions.
- Use only parts tested and approved by the manufacturer. This applies especially to all safety devices (see spare parts list for stock numbers).
- Do not change any parts.

# A Hazard generated by machine defects!

- Keep machine and accessories in good repair. Observe the maintenance instructions.
- Before any use check the machine for possible damage: before operating the machine all safety devices, protective guards or slightly damaged parts need to be checked for proper function as specified. Check

to see that all moving parts work properly and do not jam. All parts must be correctly installed and meet all conditions necessary for the proper operation of the machine.

- Never use the machine when the power supply cable is damaged. Risk of personal injury by electric shock. Have a damaged power supply cable replaced by a qualified electrician immediately.
- Damaged protection devices or parts must be repaired or replaced by a qualified specialist. Have damaged switches replaced by a service centre. Do not operate the machine if the switch cannot be turned ON or OFF.

## 3.3 Symbols on the machine



Danger! Disregard of the following warning could lead to severe personal injury or material damage.

Read instructions.



Wear safety goggles and hearing protection.



Do not operate the machine in damp or wet environment.

## Information on the nameplate:



- 24 Manufacturer
- 25 Serial number
- 26 Machine designation
- 27 Motor specifications (see also "Technical specifications")
- 28 Date of manufacture

## ENG ENGLISH

- 29 CE-mark indicates that this machine conforms to the EC directive(s) stated in the Declaration of Conformity
- **30** Dimensions of approved cutter knives

## 3.4 Safety devices

#### **Cutterblock cover**

The cutterblock cover **(31)** prevents that the rotating cutterblock can be touched from the top.

The cutterblock cover must be in place, until the cutterblock has come to a complete stop and the power cable is unplugged.



## 4. Special Product Features

- Up-to-date technology, designed for continuous duty and accurate planing results.
- Robust construction, with handles on housing for complete mobility.
- Infeed and outfeed table for simple and safe handling of long work pieces.

## 5. Operating Controls

#### ON/OFF switch

- To start = press green switch button (32).
- To stop = press red switch button (33).



## i Note:

In case of an overload a thermal circuit breaker will trip. The machine can be started again after a few seconds. To restart, first press the reset button (34), then the Start button (32).

An undervoltage relay trips in the event of a voltage failure to prevent restarting of the machine when the power is restored. To restart, press the Start button.

## Height adjustment

With the height adjustment the planing thickness (= work piece thickness **after** planing) is set.

- Per pass a maximum of 3 mm material can be removed.
- Work pieces of max. 152 mm thickness can be planed.
- The height adjustment is made by means of a crank (35). Each full turn of the crank raises or lowers the cutterblock head by 2 mm.



The set planing thickness is indicated on the scale by the pointer **(36)**.

## Lock lever for height adjustment

To lock the height adjustment:

• Set lock lever (37) fully to the right, to the position marked "Lock".

To unlock the height adjustment:

- Set lock lever (37) fully to the left, to the position marked "Unlock".
  - By means of the height adjustment the planing thickness can be reset.



## Depth of cut indicator

The indicator **(38)** indicates the depth of cut, i.e. the amount of material to be removed from the work piece.

The depth of cut can be set from 1 mm to 3 mm.



## Final thickness stop

With the final thickness stop **(39)**, standard values for planing thickness can be set, from 6 mm to 44 mm.

Using this feature, work pieces are planed to a uniform thickness without the need for constant measuring.





#### **Initial Operation** 6.

#### Machine installation 6.1

To keep the machine from "wandering" caused by vibrations or to prevent tipping over, the machine must be bolted to a work bench, work stand or similar firm support.

#### Note: a

When installing the machine stationary, keep in mind that there must be sufficient space in front and behind the machine to work long work pieces.

- 1. Drill holes into supporting surface, where necessary.
- 2. Put bolts (40) through from the top und secure from below with nuts.



40

When the machine is to be used mobile:

1. Bolt machine to the work stand (41) (see "Available Accessories").



Alternative installation:

1. Fasten thicknessing machine to a sheet of 19 mm plywood. This sheet should project on each side of the machine base approx. 100 mm.

Make sure that the fixing screws do not jut out on the underside of the plywood sheet.

2. At the job site, clamp the plywood sheet with G-cramps to a work bench, work stand or similar support.

#### 6.2 Aligning the infeed and outfeed tables

To achieve an optimal planing result, all bearing surface must be level with each other.

Note: **(i)** 

Before starting work, always check to see that the bearing surfaces of the centre table, infeed table and outfeed table are level with each other.

#### Cutting hazard when touching the rotating cutterblock! Accidental starting of the machine may cause serious injury. Always unplug before making any adjustments to the machine!

- 1. Fold down both infeed (42) and outfeed table (44).
- 2. Put a straight board (45), try square, straight edge or similar across the infeed and outfeed table.



If readjustment is necessary:

- 3. Fold both infeed and outfeed table up.
- Loosen lock nut (46) on both stop 4. screws (47).
- Adust both stop screws (47), until 5. the infeed table (or outfeed table) is on a level with the centre table (43) of the thicknessing machine.



- 6. Fold down the infeed table (or outfeed table) and recheck, if the bearing surfaces are now on a level with each other.
- 7. When infeed and outfeed table are properly aligned, secure all stop screws (47) with the lock nuts (46).

#### 6.3 **Dust collector**



Some types of wood dust (e.g. beech, oak, ash) may cause cancer when inhaled. To minimize the adverse effect of wood dust, you are stronlgy advised to connect a suitable dust collector to the machine when working indoors. The dust collector must comply with the following:

- fitting the diameter of the dust extraction connector:
  - 64 mm or
  - 102 mm;
- air flow volume  $\geq$  460 m<sup>3</sup>/h;
- vacuum at the dust extraction connector  $\geq$  530 Pa:
- air speed at dust extraction connector  $\geq$  20 m/ s.

Follow the operating instructions supplied with the dust collector as well!

Operation without a dust collector is only advisable:

- outdoors:
- for short-term operation (up to a maximum of 30 minutes);
- when wearing a dust respirator.

If no dust collector is used chips will built up inside the machine housing, and on the cutter knives in particular. These built-up chips cause the planed surface to become rough. Therefore the chips need to be removed periodically.

## Danger!

The rotation of the cutterblock causes the chips to be blown through the slot in the cutterblock cover.



The slot of the cutterblock cover or an installed dust extraction connector must not be blocked by objects placed in the path of ejected chips.

Installing the dust extraction connector

Cutting hazard when touching Cutting nazard which the rotating cutterblock! Accidental starting of the machine may cause serious injury.

Unplug power supply cable before installing the dust extraction connector!

## ENG ENGLISH

- 1. Set lock lever fully to the left, into the position marked "Unlock".
- 2. Lower cutterblock head, until the screws (49) of the cutterblock cover are easily accessible.
- 3. Loosen screws (49), until the dust extraction connector can be put on.
- Place dust extraction connector (48) onto the cutterblock cover, so that the recesses fit under the cutterblock cover holding screws and the dust extraction connector is supported by the rubber buffer (52).
- 5. Screw holding pins (51) in the mounting holes (50) and tighten hand-tight. The dust extraction connector shall rest securely on the holding pins.



6. Tighten screws (49) again.

## 6.4 Mains connection

## ∠<sup>1</sup>/<sub>1</sub> Danger! High voltage

- Operate this machine in dry surroundings only.
- Operate the machine only on a power source meeting the following requirements (see also "Technical specifications"):
  - outlets properly installed, earthed, and tested.
  - mains voltage and system frequency conforming to the voltage and frequency shown on the machine's rating label;
  - fuse protection by a residual current operated device (RCD) of 30 mA sensitivity;
  - System impedance Z<sub>max</sub> at the interconnection point (house service connection) 0.35 Ohm maximum.

## i Note:

Check with your local Electricity Board or electrician if in doubt whether your house service connection meets these requirements.

- Position power supply cable so it does not interfere with the work and is not damaged.
- Protect power supply cable from heat, aggressive liquids and sharp edges.
- Use only rubber-jacketed extension cables of sufficient lead cross-section (see "Technical specifications").
- Do not pull on power supply cable to unplug.

## 7. Operation

## Danger!

- This machine may only be operated by one person at a time. Other persons shall stay only at a distance to the machine for the purpose of feeding or removing stock.
  - Use personal protection gear:
  - dust respirator;
  - hearing protection;
  - safety goggles.
- Before starting work, check to see that the following are in proper working order:
  - power cable and plug;
  - ON/OFF switch
  - cutterblock cover
  - push stick.
- Assume proper operating position when thicknessing:
  - at the front of the machine;
  - to the side of the infeed table;
  - when working with two persons, the second person must stay at a sufficient distance to the thicknessing machine and stand to the side of the infeed or outfeed table, respectively.
- If the type of work requires, use the following:
  - work piece support (e.g. roller support) – to keep the machine from tipping over when working long work pieces;
  - push stick (feeding aid) for short work pieces;
  - dust collector;
  - sliding wax to enhance gliding of the work pieces through the machine, apply a light coat of sliding wax to the surfaces of infeed and outfeed table.
- Avoid typical operator mistakes:
  - Do not exceed the specified work piece dimensions.
  - Do not jam the work piece.
    Risk of kickback.

## Before planing a work piece

Test the machine when idling:

- 1. Fold down both infeed and outfeed table.
- 2. Make sure the cutter knives can turn freely.
- 3. Set lock lever fully to the left, into the position marked "Unlock".
- 4. Raise cutterblock head to at least 25 mm planing thickness.
- 5. Set lock lever fully to the right, to the position marked "Lock".
- Plug in the power supply cable's plug and start the motor (press green swich button).
- 7. Once the machine has reached full speed, pay attention to:
  - noise
  - vibrations



If noise and/or vibrations appear to be unusually high: turn OFF the machine immediately and unplug!

8. Check machine for parts that may have worked loose; fasten any loose parts properly, where necessary.

## 7.1 Planing work pieces

The thickness planer can remove a maximum of 3 mm in a single pass. However, this depth of cut may be used only:

- with very sharp cutter knives;
- when planing soft wood;
- when the maximum work piece width is not used.

Otherwise there is a risk of overloading the machine.

 It is strongly recommended that you make several passes at a moderate depth of cut, to achieve the desired work piece thickness.

## i Note:

The ideal depth of cut to be used depends on a number of factors, such as type of wood, work piece width or the state of dryness of the wood.

If you are planing mainly very wide (330 mm maximum) work pieces, the motor is subjected to heavy loads.

 Plane narrow work pieces inbetween, or take a break to relieve the motor.

#### Work piece dimensions

- Do not work work pieces which are shorter than 356 mm. With shorter work pieces there is a risk of kickback!
- Do not work work pieces of less than 5 mm thickness. The cutterblock head cannot be set lower.



- Work only work pieces which are wider than 19 mm.
- Use extra work piece supports for work pieces which are longer than 1500 mm.
- Never thickness several work pieces at the same time. Risk of personal injury if individual pieces are uncontrolled caught by the cutterblock.
- 1. Fold down both infeed and outfeed table.
- 2. Set the planing thickness with the crank (53). The planing thickness is indicated by the scale (54).

Risk of kickback! Adjust the planing thickness only when the cutterblock is at standstill!



3. Start motor (press green switch button).

## Risk of injury!

- Never reach with your hands into the machine when guiding the workpiece!
- Guide a work piece on the outfeed side if it has been fed so far into the thicknesser that it can no longer be safely guided from the infeed side.
- Never force the work piece into the machine by pushing or shoving. The machine will draw the work piece in automatically with the infeed roller.
- Slide work piece slowly over the infeed table. It will then be automatically fed through the thicknesser.
- 5. Guide work piece straight through the thicknesser.
- 6. Switch machine off if no further planing is to be done immediately afterwards.

#### Planing with the final thickness stop

- 1. Set lock lever fully to the left, into the position marked "Unlock".
- 2. Raise cutterblock head and set to a planing thickness of more than 44 mm.
- 3. Set the final thickness stop (55) to the desired thickness of the work-piece.



- 4. Lower the cutterblock head, until it is stopped by the final thickness stop. Possibly the work piece needs to be planed down to a thickness which will permit it to be planed down to the final thickness in the last pass.
- 5. Set lock lever fully to the right, to the position marked "Lock".
- 6. Start motor (press green switch button) and plane the work piece.

## 8. Care and Maintenance

Prior to all servicing:

- 1. Switch machine OFF.
- 2. Wait until the cutterblock has come to a complete stop.
- 3. Unplug power cable.

Cutting hazard when touching the rotating cutterblock! Accidental starting of the machine may cause serious injury.

Burning hazard! Right after planing the cutter knives may be hot – let the machine cool down before servicing.

The checks and procedures described here are meant to help operate the machine safely! Should there be faults evident on any of these components, the machine must not be used until these faults have been remedied in a workmanlike manner.

 Repair and maintenance work other than described in this section should only be carried out by qualified specialists.

- Check power supply cable for damages.
  - Never use the machine when the power supply cable is damaged. Risk of personal injury by electric shock. Have a damaged power supply cable replaced by a qualified electrician immediately.
- Replace defective parts, especially of safety devices, only with genuine replacement parts. Parts not tested and approved by the manufacturer can cause unforeseen damage.

#### After all servicing:

- Check to see that all safety devices are operational.
- Make sure that no tools or other parts remain on or in the machine.

#### 8.1 Machine cleaning and lubrication

A Danger!

Some types of wood dust (e.g. beech, oak, ash) can cause cancer when inhaled.

When cleaning the machine wear dust respirator and safety goggles, to protect yourself from wood dust or splinters.

\* Caution!

- For cleaning, do not use solvents or cleaning agents containing solvents. The machine's plastic parts may be affected and damaged by the use of solvents.
- Never let petrol, petroleum-based products, or similar substances get in contact with the plastic parts of the machine. These substances contain chemicals which may damage, weaken, or destroy plastics.
- Remove dirt and wood dust with a clean cloth.

#### After each use

- Remove planing chips and wood dust from all accessible areas, incl. the dust extraction connector and/or the slot in the cutterblock cover (e.g. with a vacuum cleaner).
- Clean both infeed and outfeed roller. Any deposit, which may have formed on the rollers, can be removed with a non-flammable cleaning agent for rubber rollers.



## Periodic cleaning

Soiling of the machine by wood dust or dirt may be the reason for poorly planed work pieces. For perfect planing results the machine should be preiodically cleaned and the bearing surfaces of the tables waxed.

- 1. Unplug power cable.
- 2. Fold down both infeed and outfeed table.
- 3. Unscrew and remove the dust extraction connector (56) and clean with a cloth.



4. Unscrew and remove the cutterblock cover (57) and clean with a cloth.



57

- 5. Remove planing chips (e.g. with a vacuum cleaner) from:
  - height adjustment;
  - cutterblock;
  - motor ventilation slots.
- Clean guide bars and spindles of the height adjustment with spray oil (e.g. WD40), then apply a light film of medium viscosity machine oil.
- 7. Replace and fasten the cutterblock cover (57).
- 8. Replace and fasten the dust extraction connector **(56)**.
- 9. Apply a light coat of wax for better gliding of the work piece on:
  - infeed table
  - centre table
  - outfeed table

## i Note:

Apply only a thin coat of wax. Too much wax may be absorbed by the wood, causing discolouration.

#### **Tips for lubrication**

- Periodically check that guide bars and spindles of the height adjustment are clean and lightly oiled. Use a machine oil of medium viscosity.
- The cutter knives should also be given a light coat of oil, to inhibit rust.
- All bearings in this machine are lubricated with a high-grade grease. Under normal operating conditions this does provide sufficient lubrication for the entire service life of the machine. Additional lubrication is not required.

#### Cleaning the motor

As long as it is kept clean, the motor does not require any maintenance.

- Make sure that on or in the motor no deposits of water, oil or wooddust build up.
- The motor bearings do not require any lubrication.

# 8.2 Changing the cutter knives

## i Note:

Dull cutter knives are recognizable by:

- reduced planing performance;
- increased risk of kickback;
- motor overloads.

## Danger! Risk of personal injury by cuts

from the cutter knives!

- Wear gloves when changing cutter knives.
- Never turn the cutterblock directly by hand. When changing the cutter knives, only turn the cutterblock by the drive belt (62).

#### Preparations

- 1. Unplug power cable.
- 2. Fold down both infeed and outfeed table.
- 3. Unscrew and remove the dust extraction connector (58).



 Unscrew and remove the cutterblock cover (59).



# Turning the cutterblock into the correct position

• Turn cutterblock (60) with the drive belt (62), until the cutterblock is arrested.

To access the drive belt from below, raise the cutterblock head until the drive belt is accessible.

- To have access to the second cutter knife, the cutterblock must by rotated by 180°.
  - Press lock lever (61) and turn cutterblock with the drive belt (62).
  - Release lock lever (61) and keep turning the cutterblock, until it is arrested in the new position.

60

61



#### Removing the cutter knives

 Turn all hexagon head screws (63) of the cutter knife lockbar all the way in (wear gloves!), to release the cutter knife lockbar.



 Using the magnet from the special tool set, first remove the cutter knife (64), then the cutter knife lockbar (65) from the cutterblock (66).



- There are still two spring remaining in the cutterblock's groove. Remove the springs.
- 4. Clean all surfaces of cutterblock and cutter knife lockbar with a suitable solvent.

## ▲ Danger!

Do not use any cleaning agents (e.g. to remove resin residue) that could corrode the light metal components of the machine; the stability of the light metal components would be compromised.

Installing the cutter knives

## Danger!

- Use only suitable cutter knives conforming to EN 847-1 (see "Available Accessories") – unsuitable, incorrectly mounted, blunt or damaged cutter knives can work loose or increase the risk of kickback considerably.
- Always replace or reverse both cutter knives.

- When installing the cutter knife lockbar and the cutter, make sure they are installed on centre and do not project over the ends of the cutterblock.
- Install cutter knives using only genuine replacement parts.
- 1. Fit both springs into the holes in the cutter knife.
- 2. Place the cutter knife lockbar in the cutterblock's groove. Turn hexagon head bolts so far out that the cutter knife will just slide in.
- 3. Apply a light coat of oil to the cutter knife.
- Insert a sharp cutter knife and centre with the cutter knife lockbar, so that neither protrudes over the end of the cutterblock.

## i Note:

The cutter knife has a cutting edge on both front and rear side. If the edge on the rear is sufficiently sharp, it will suffice to turn the knife.

 Press the cutter knife setting gauge (67) on the cutterblock (68) as illustrated.



The cutter knife **(69)** is pushed up by the springs **(70)**. The setting gauge pushes the cutter knife down into the correct position, against the spring pressure.



- 6. Tigthen the cutter knife lockbar (72):
- To avoid distortion of the cutter knife lockbar (72) start with the screws in the centre, then tighten the screws closer to the edges step by step.

 Take the setting gauge off only when all screws (71) have been tightened.



- Do not extend tool when tightening the bolts.
- Do not tighten bolts by striking the wrench.
- 7. Replace and fasten the cutterblock cover.
- Make sure that no assembly tools or loose parts are remaining in the machine.

Test the machine when idling:

- 1. Fold down both infeed and outfeed table.
- 2. Make sure the cutter knives can turn freely.
- 3. Set lock lever fully to the left, into the position marked "Unlock".
- 4. Raise cutterblock head to at least 25 mm planing thickness.
- 5. Set lock lever fully to the right, to the position marked "Lock".
- Plug in the power supply cable's plug and start the motor (press green swich button).
- Pay attention to the following, once the machine has reached full speed:
   noise
  - vibrations

## Danger!

If noise and/or vibrations appear to be unusually high: turn OFF the machine immediately and unplug!

8. Check machine for parts that may have worked loose; fasten any loose parts properly, where necessary.

## 8.3 Adjusting the final thickness stop

- 1. Using the final thickness stop, plane work piece to the desired stop measure.
- Measure the actual stop measure (= work piece thickness) of the workpiece.

If readjustment of the final thickness stop is necessary:

- 1. Unplug power supply cable.
- 2. Set lock lever fully to the left, into the position marked "Unlock".
- 3. Loosen Phillips head screw (73) securing the crank of the height adjustment, but do not remove it.
- 4. Removing the side cover (75):
  - Remove both Allen head screws (74) (metric, 6 mm).
  - Lift the machine's upper part at the carrying handle, then carefully remove the side cover (75).



5. Lower the cutterblock head, until the final thickness stop (77) makes contact with the stop screw (76). When doing so, the final thickness stop must be set to the above set stop measure.



- 6. Loosen the lock nut of the stop screw (76) with the open jaw wrench (metric, 10 mm), and adjust the stop screw by the difference between the set stop measure and the measured actual thickness of the work piece.
- Secure the stop screw (76) in posi-7. tion with the lock nut.
- Reinstall the side cover (75) and 8. fasten with the two Allen head screws (74).
- Retighten the Phillips head screw 9 (73) securing the crank of the height adjustment, handtight only.

#### Checking and replacing 8.4 the carbon brushes

Both front and rear carbon brushes should be checked every 10 to 15 operating hours.

Worn carbon brushes are recognizable by:

- intermittent operation of motor;
- Interference in radio and TV reception while the motor is running;
- motor stalling.

To check or replace carbon brushes:

- 1. Unplug power cable.
- 2. Fold down both infeed and outfeed table
- 3. Remove the carbon brush on the infeed side of the machine: unscrew the plug (78) from the motor housing with a suitable screwdriver.

#### Note: (i)

The rear carbon brush is located on the opposite (outfeed) side. To remove the rear carbon brush, the dust extraction adaptor and the cutterblock cover need to be removed first.



- Pull carbon brush (79) out and check. Each carbon brush should be at least 6 mm long.
- Fit intact or new carbon brush (79) 5. into the carbon holder (80). The two lugs on the sides of the small metal plate must fit into the grooves in the brush holder.
- 6. Replace the plug (78).

#### Note: (i)

After replacement of the rear carbon brush, both the cutterblock cover and the dust extraction connector must be reinstalled and securely fastened.

7. Check the functioning of the machine.

## 8.5 Storage

- 1. Unplug and stow away the power supply cable in the pocket on the underside of the outfeed table.
- 2. Swing both infeed and outfeed table up.
- 3. Store machine in a way that
  - it cannot be used or tempered with by unauthorized persons, and
  - nobody can get hurt by the stored machine.

#### Caution! ₩

Do not store machine unprotected outdoors or in damp environment.

#### Transportating 8.6

- Unplug power supply cable. 1.
- Unscrew and remove the dust 2. extraction connector (81).



- Swing both infeed and outfeed table 3. up.
- Stow away the power supply cable 4. in the pocket on the underside of the outfeed table.
- Transport machine holding it by the 5. carrying handles on its sides.



Never store the machine outdoors, in unprotected areas or in damp or wet locations.

#### 9. Trouble shooting

## Danger!

Before carrying out any fault service or maintenance work, always:

- 1. Switch machine OFF;
- Wait until the cutterblock has 2 come to a complete stop.
- 3. Unplug power supply cable.

Cutting hazard when touching the rotating cutterblock! Accidental starting of the machine may cause serious injury.

## **Burning hazard!**

Right after planing the cutter knives may be hot - let the machine cool down before troubleshooting.

## Danger!

After each service, enable all safety devices and check to see that they are fully operational.

## Motor does not run

No supply voltage.

Check cables, plug, outlet and mains fuse.

Undervoltage relay tripped by temporary voltage failure.

- Start again.

Motor has overheated, e.g. due to blunt cutter knives, overloading or chips jammed inside the cutterblock cover.

Remove cause for overheating, let cool down for approx. 10 minutes, then press the reset button and restart the machine.

Carbon brushes worn down.

- Replace carbon brushes.

#### **Performance lessens**

Cutter knives blunt.

- Install sharp knives.

#### Planed surface not smooth

Cutter knives blunt.

- Install sharp knives.
- Cutter knives blocked by chips.
- Remove chips.

Moisture contents of work piece too high.

- Dry work piece.

#### Planed surface cracked

Cutter knives blunt.

- Install sharp knives.

Cutter knives blocked by chips.

- Remove chips.

Work piece was planed against the grain.

 Plane work piece in opposite direction.

Too much material removed in one pass

 Make several passes at less depth of cut.

#### Worked surface uneven

Cutter knives are installed uneven.

 Adjust cutter knives with setting gauge.

#### Feed rate too little

Resin built-up on bearing surfaces of centre table, infeed table or outfeed table.

 Clean bearing surfaces and apply a light coat of sliding wax.

#### Work piece jammed

Too much material removed in one pass.

 Make several passes at less depth of cut.

## 10. Available Accessories

For special tasks the following accessories are available at your specialized dealer – see back cover for illustrations:

- A Work Stand For a secure machine stand and optimal working height; folding, ideal for mobile use.
- **B** Dust Extraction Connector To connect to a dust collector
- **C** Three Roller Support To support long work pieces
- D Cutter Knives For planing wood
- E Carbide-tipped Cutter Knives For planing hardwoods.
- **F** WAXILIT Anti-seize Compound Sliding wax to improve stock gliding quality on the planing beds.
- **G** Care and Maintenance Spray Removes resin residue and preserves metal surfaces

## 11. Repairs

⚠️ Danger! Repairs to power tools must

only be carried out by qualified electricians!

Electric tools in need of repair can be sent to the service centre of your country. Refer to the spare parts list for the address.

Please attach a description of the fault to the machine.

## ENGLISH

## 12. Technical specifications

Voltage		V	230 ~ 50 Hz	110 ~ 50 Hz
Fuse protection min.		A	10	16
Motor capacity		W	1800	1620
Protection class		IP	20	20
Degree of protection			I	Ι
No-load speed (cutterb	llock)	min <sup>-1</sup>	9800	9500
Feed rate		m/min	7.5	7.5
Depth of cut	maximum	mm	3	3
Work piece thickness	minimum maximum	mm mm	5 152	5 152
Work piece width	minimum maximum	mm mm	19 330	19 330
Work piece length	minimum	mm	356	356
Dimensions	depth (tables folded up) width height	mm mm mm	350 585 495	350 585 495
Dimensions	depth (thicknessing table) width (thicknessing table)	mm mm	600 370	600 370
Weight		kg	35	35
Permissible ambient te Permissible temperatu	mperature for operation re for transport and storage	0° 0°	0 to +40 0 to +40	0 to +40 0 to +40
Noise emission values according to EN 61029-1 A-sound pressure level L <sub>pA</sub> A-sound power level L <sub>WA</sub>		dB (A) dB (A)	94 107	94 107
Dust collector	inner diameter of dust extraction connector outer diameter of dust extraction connector air flow volume vacuum at suction connector air speed at suction connector	mm mm m <sup>3</sup> /h Pa m/s	64 102 460 530 20	64 102 460 530 20



G 091 101 8691

# www.elektra-beckum.com